1960

Thermoid Western Co. et al v. Union Pacific Railroad Co. : Brief of Plaintiffs and Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

INTRODUCTION

The plaintiffs and appellants are firms and associations doing business within the state of Utah and which ship freight

intrastate by railroad within the state of Utah. The defendants are railroads operating through and within the state of Utah.

This is an action to recover the difference between the freight rates charged by the defendant railroads to the plaintiffs and proper and valid charges as established by the tariffs on file with and approved by the Public Service Commission of Utah. The period of time covered by this action is from June 22, 1956 to August 28, 1958.

This action concerns only the liability of the defendants for the overcharges. The parties have stipulated that the amount of the overcharges shall be determined in a subsequent accounting if the issue of liability is found against the defendants.

The action was filed in the Third Judicial District Court in Salt Lake County. The defendants filed notice of removal to the federal court on the alleged grounds that the plaintiffs' recovery depended upon an interpretation of a federal law. Judge Willis W. Ritter denied the motion of the plaintiffs to remand and restrained counsel for the plaintiffs from bringing any like actions for other clients in the state courts. On appeal, the United States Circuit Court, Tenth Circuit, decided that there was no federal question involved, ordered the injunction dissolved and ordered the case remanded to the state court.*

*This decision is reported at 269 Fed. 2nd 714. The case is entitled *Structural Steel & Forge Co. et al v. Union Pacific RR, et al*, because the appeal was actually taken by Structural Steel and Forge Co., which, although not a party to the action, was restrained by the federal district court from bringing an action of its own in the state courts allegedly because the court had to do that to protect its jurisdiction

Upon trial of the issues affecting liability in the state court, the Hon. Ray VanCott held in favor of the defendants and against the plaintiffs on the question of liability.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the year 1951 the major railroads operating in the United States made application to the Interstate Commerce Commission for an increase of 15% in interstate freight rates and charges. This permission was granted by the Interstate Commerce Commission in a proceeding known as Ex Parte 175.

At the same time the major railroads operating in and through Utah made application to the Public Service Commission of Utah for an increase of 15% in Utah intrastate freight rates and charges. After a hearing before the Public Service Commission of Utah on this application, the application was denied for lack of sufficient evidence without prejudice to the rights of the railroads to reopen and introduce additional evidence.

The railroads took no further proceedings before the Public Service Commission of Utah, but made application to the Interstate Commerce Commission to increase the Utah intrastate rates under the provisions of 49 U.S.C. 13 (3) (4) on the alleged ground that the Utah rates were so low as to cast a burden on interstate commerce. After hearing, the Interstate Commerce Commission issued its order taking jurisdiction of the Utah intrastate rates and granting the increase

of this case—the Thermoid case. However, the issues involved in the Structural Steel & Forge case in the 10th Circuit are the issues of this case now being tried by this court.

of 15% sought. In this Order the Interstate Commerce Commission ordered the 15% increase and informed the Public Service Commission of Utah that it would have 30 days within which to make the rates effective, otherwise the Interstate Commerce Commission would, on its own order, place said increased rates into effect.

The Public Service Commission declined to make the rates effective on its order, and a final order was issued by the Interstate Commerce Commission making the 15% increase effective as to Utah intrastate traffic.

Thereafter the Public Service Commission and the Utah Citizens Rate Association, of which organization some of the plaintiffs herein are members, instituted an action in the United States District Court for the District of Utah to set aside the order of the Interstate Commerce Commission above referred to. The case was heard by a Three-Judge court which granted a temporary restraining order pending a final decision of the case. The Three-Judge court decided in a two to one decision that the action of the Interstate Commerce Commission was valid and legal and lifted the temporary restraining order allowing the 15% increase to become applicable to Utah intrastate rates effective as of the 22nd day of June, 1956. The Public Service Commission and the Utah Citizens Rate Association then appealed to the Supreme Court of the United States from the order of the Three-Judge federal district court. The United States Supreme Court, after hearing, reversed the Three-Judge court with instructions to set aside the order of the Interstate Commerce Commission and to remand the matter to the Interstate Commerce Commission for further proceed-

ings in conformity with the Supreme Court decision.* The mandate of the Supreme Court was filed in the United States District Court on August 27, 1958, on which date the Utah intrastate rates reverted to their former level.

This action is to recover the additional 15% charged by the railroads during the time the higher rates were in effect between the date of the removal of the injunction by the United States District Court and the filing of the mandate from the Supreme Court of the United States.

Judge Van Cott held that the plaintiffs were not entitled to recover. In seeking a reversal of this decision the plaintiffs rely upon the following points:

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT ONE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE INTERSTATE COMMERCE COMMISSION HAD JURISDICTION TO ISSUE THE ORDER INCREASING UTAH INTRASTATE RATES.

POINT TWO

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE ORDER OF THE INTERSTATE COMMERCE COMMISSION RAISING UTAH INTRASTATE RATES WAS NOT VOID BUT ONLY VOIDABLE.

*Public Service Commission of Utah et al v. United States of America et al, 356 U. S. 421, 2 L.ed. (2nd) 886.

POINT THREE

THE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE PLAINTIFFS MUST SHOW A BASIS FOR RECOVERY UPON EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES BEFORE JUDGMENT COULD BE ENTERED IN FAVOR OF THE PLAINTIFFS.

POINT FOUR

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE ACT OF THE RAILROADS IN MAILING THE TARIFFS EFFECTUATING THE INCREASE TO THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION AS AUTHORIZED BY THE INTERSTATE COMMERCE COMMISSION, BUT AS DENIED BY THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF UTAH WAS AN EFFECTIVE FILING UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF UTAH.

POINT FIVE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE SUBSEQUENT ORDER OF THE INTERSTATE COMMERCE COMMISSION ISSUED IN DECEMBER, 1959, REPAIRED THE DEFECTS FOUND BY THE SUPREME COURT IN THE EARLIER ORDER.

POINT SIX

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT AN APPLICATION TO THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF UTAH FOR REPARATIONS IS A PREREQUI-

SITE TO THE BRINGING OF AN ACTION IN THE COURTS TO RECOVER AN OVERCHARGE.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE INTERSTATE COMMERCE COMMISSION HAD JURISDICTION TO ISSUE THE ORDER INCREASING UTAH INTRASTATE RATES.

POINT TWO

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE ORDER OF THE INTERSTATE COMMERCE COMMISSION RAISING UTAH INTRASTATE RATES WAS NOT VOID BUT ONLY VOIDABLE.

As these two points are closely related, we will consider them together for purposes of argument. It follows as a matter of course that if the Interstate Commerce Commission was without jurisdiction to enter the contested order, such order was void from its inception.

The cases establishing the above principle are numerous. Most of them are collected in the annotations contained in American Jurisprudence and Corpus Juris Secundum. Without citing the cases, the following statements are the summary drawn from these numerous cases by the authors of these two works:

“The rendition of a judgment without jurisdiction is a usurpation of power and makes the judgment

itself coram non judice and ipso facto void.” (31 Am. Jur. 68).

“A judgment which is void, as distinguished from one which is merely voidable, or liable to be vacated or set aside for irregularity or other cause, or reversed for error, is a mere nullity and has no force or effect. It is not binding on anyone; it raises no lien or estoppel; and it does not impair or affect the rights of anyone. It confers no rights on the party in whose favor it is given and affords no protection to persons acting under it * * * *.” (49 C.J.S. 878).

The jurisdiction of the Interstate Commerce Commission in this case depends upon the fundamental division of governmental powers between the state and the federal government. Article I, Section 8 of the Constitution of the United States gives to Congress the right to regulate interstate and foreign commerce. The 10th Amendment to the Constitution of the United States reserves to the states or the people all powers not expressly granted to the federal government. Prior to the year 1919 the uniform holding of the courts was to the effect that the agencies of the federal government had no power to regulate or control intrastate rates, the rationale of the decision being that such powers were powers reserved to the states by the federal constitution.

In 1919 the landmark case of *Houston E & W T RR Co. v. U. S.*, 234 U.S. 242, 58 L.ed. 1541, made a significant change in the case law in this regard. This case held that under certain circumstances an agency of the federal government could take jurisdiction of intrastate freight rates. The rationale of this case is to the effect that because the railroads which handle both intrastate and interstate shipments are a single

economic unit, the federal government has the power to make certain that the intrastate rates are not so low that they cast a burden on interstate commerce. If they are so low that they cast a burden on interstate commerce, then the federal government has jurisdiction, incident to its power to protect interstate commerce, to step in and remove this burden. However, unless and until the burden is made to appear, there is no jurisdiction in the federal agencies to touch the intrastate rates.

On February 28, 1920, Section 13 of the Interstate Commerce Act was passed. (49 U.S.C. 13 (3) (4)). This act merely codifies the holding in the Houston case.

In every Section 13 case, therefore, the Interstate Commerce Commission must determine two distinct questions:

1. The Jurisdictional Question.

Are the intrastate rates so low that they do cast a burden on interstate commerce; and

2. The Discretionary Question.

How high must these intrastate rates be raised to remove the discrimination.

If the first question, the jurisdictional question, is answered in the negative, the Interstate Commerce Commission has no power to proceed further.

Subsequent cases from the United States Supreme Court make abundantly clear the fact that before a federal regulatory agency may step in and issue any order touching a matter ordinarily within the scope of state jurisdiction, the relationship to the federal jurisdiction must clearly appear.

In the case of *Davies Warehouse Co. v. Bowles*, 321 U.S.

144; 99 L.ed. 35, the Supreme Court in considering a matter where an attempt was being made to extend a federal regulation to certain matters in contravention of a state statute, stated:

“It also is contended that an interpretation must prevail as a matter of principle which will give the exemption a general and uniform operation in all states irrespective of local law. It is, of course, true that uniform operation of a federal law is a desirable end and, other things being equal, we often have interpreted statutes to achieve it. But in no case relied upon did we achieve uniformity at the cost of establishing overlapping authority over the same subject matter in the state and in the federal government.”

In interpreting the power of the Interstate Commerce Commission to interfere in intrastate matters, the Supreme Court time and again has reiterated the principle that this power should be exercised with extreme caution and should be exercised only where every element of federal jurisdiction appears clearly of record. In the case of *Palmer v. Massachusetts*, 308 U.S. 78, 84 L.ed 93, the Court stated:

“To be sure, in recent years Congress has from time to time exercised authority over purely intrastate activities of an interstate carrier when, in the judgment of Congress, an interstate carrier constituted, as a matter of economic fact, a single organism and could not effectively be regulated as to some of its interstate phases without drawing local business within the regulated sphere. But such absorption of state authority is a delicate exercise of legislative policy in achieving a wise accommodation between the needs of central control and the lively maintenance of local institutions. Therefore, in construing legislation this court has disfavored inroads by implication on state authority and

resolutely confined restrictions upon the traditional power of states to regulate their local transportation to the plain mandate of Congress. *Minnesota Rate Cases* (*Simpson v. Shepard*) 230 U.S. 352, 57 L.ed., 1511, 33 S. Ct. 729, 48 LRA (NS) 1151, Ann. Cas. 1916A, 18; cf. *Kelly v. Washington*, 302 U.S. 1, 82 L.ed. 3, 58 S. Ct. 87.”

This principle has been reiterated in other cases. See *Yonkers v. United States*, 320 U.S. 685; 88 L.ed 400; *Alabama Public Service Commission v. Southern Ry.*, 341 U.S. 341; 95 L.ed 1022, and *Arkansas R.R. Commission v. Chicago, Rock Island and Pac. R.R. Co.*, 274 U.S. 597, 71 L.ed 1224.

A landmark case in this field is the case of *North Carolina v. United States*, 325 U.S. 507, 89 L.ed 1760, wherein the Supreme Court makes it very clear that before the Interstate Commerce Commission may issue an order raising intrastate rates, its jurisdiction must clearly appear. The language of that case is as follows:

“Intrastate transportation is primarily the concern of the states. The power of the Interstate Commerce Commission with reference to such intrastate rates is dominant only so far as necessary to alter rates which injuriously affect interstate transportation. *American Express Company v. South Dakota*, 244 U.S. 617, L.ed. 1352. A scrupulous regard for maintaining the power of the state in this field has caused this court to require that the Interstate Commerce Commission’s orders giving precedence to Federal rates must meet ‘a high standard of certainty.’ *Illinois Central Railroad v. State Public Utilities Commission*, 245 U.S. 493, 62 L.ed. 425. *Before the Commission can nulify a state rate, justification for the ‘exercise of Federal power must clearly appeal.’* *Florida v. U.S.* 282 U.S. 194, 75 L.ed. 291.” (Emphasis added).

When the railroads, therefore, allege that the Interstate Commerce Commission has blanket jurisdiction to investigate and raise intrastate rates and that any order made after the investigation begins may be attacked only on the basis of an abuse of discretion, they are ignoring these well-established rules. The evidence must first establish the jurisdiction and then if that is established, the evidence must establish the amount of the rate raise justified. However, if the evidence does not establish the jurisdiction, the Commission may not proceed further, and any attempt to do so is a nullity.

In the case of *Public Service Commission of Utah et al v. United States of America, et al*, 356 U.S. 421, 2 L.ed (2d) 886, the Supreme Court held that the evidence was not sufficient to show that Utah intrastate rates were so low as to cast a burden on interstate commerce. Therefore, the power of the federal government under the Commerce Clause, as interpreted by *North Carolina v. United States, supra*, did not arise and the power to regulate intrastate rates still lay exclusively with the state of Utah under the provisions of the 10th Amendment to the Constitution of the United States. Any attempt of the federal government to exercise a jurisdiction which it did not have under the Constitution and which the Congress had not attempted to confer on it under the Interstate Commerce Act, was a nullity and void.

Section 54-3-7, Utah Code Annotated 1953, provides in part as follows:

"Except as in this chapter otherwise provided, no public utility shall charge, demand, collect or receive a greater or less or different compensation for any product or commodity furnished or to be furnished

or for any services rendered or to be rendered than the rates, tolls, rentals and charges applicable to such products or commodity or services as specified in its schedules on file and in effect at the time * * * .”

It is conceded by all in this case that the rates charged were in excess of the tariffs on file with the Public Service Commission, which had been approved and authorized by that commission. It is conceded that the Public Service Commission did not at any time authorize the filing and making effective of the schedules effectuating the increase. In fact, the Public Service Commission expressly refused to authorize such increase at the time application was made to the Public Service Commission by the railroads (Exhibit 2, Page 43) and at the time the Interstate Commerce Commission issued its ultimatum to the Utah Commission (Exhibit 10). Therefore, if the increased rates are to have any validity at all, they must depend upon the Interstate Commerce Commission order.

Although the ultimate issue was different when this case was before the United States Circuit Court of Appeals on the motion to remand, many of the subsidiary issues were related. In that case (*Structural Steel and Forge Company, et al. v. Union Pacific Railroad Company, et al.*, 269 Fed. 2d 714) the Circuit Court states:

“Stripped of its irrelevancies, the removed claim is that defendant railroads exacted a rate for intra-state shipments in excess of those established and on file with the competent state regulatory body, and the prayer is for restitution of the same. In substance, it is the same as the Structural Steel claim in the state court. Surely both complaints state a claim on which relief can be granted under the laws of the State of Utah,

i.e., the right not to be required to pay a higher rate on intrastate shipments than that prescribed by applicable state law, rule or regulation. The reference then to the *void* or vacated order of the Interstate Commerce Commission as a basis for the charges, was not an essential ingredient of the claim for restitution. * * *.” (Emphasis added.)

In asserting that they were protected by the void Interstate Commerce Commission order prior to the time that it was set aside, the railroads rely heavily upon the case of *Atlantic Coast Line Railroad Company v. Florida*, 79 L. ed 1451, 295 U.S. 301. The Atlantic Coast Line case has certain superficial points of similarity with this case, but it is basically entirely different. In both cases the Interstate Commerce Commission took jurisdiction of intrastate rates and authorized an increase. In both cases the order was later set aside. In both cases the plaintiffs were seeking to recover the higher rate collected between the date of the Interstate Commerce Commission order and the date it was set aside. These are the points of similarity between the two cases. The points of difference, however, completely distinguish these two cases. As was pointed out by the Circuit Court of Appeals in *Structural Steel and Forge Company v. Union Pacific Railroad Company* (*supra*):

“Jurisdiction wise, our case is wholly unlike *Atlantic Coast Line v. Florida* (*supra*) and *United States v. Morgan*, 313 U.S. 409, where restitution was sought in a federal court with conceded jurisdiction to review the administrative rate-making process.”

In the Atlantic Coast Line case the Interstate Commerce Commission order was set aside because of a defect in the findings of the Interstate Commerce Commission. The court

held that the specific findings as to the evidence were not sufficient to sustain the general findings. There was no holding of any lack of evidence to give rise to the federal jurisdiction.

In the case now before this court, the Supreme Court in *Public Service Commission of Utah v. United States*, supra, found the evidence insufficient to sustain the federal jurisdiction. The language of the court is as follows:

“In the face of this proof, the evidence as to the general similarity of conditions falls short of the high standard of certainty required.”

This difference is illustrated in the *Atlantic Coast Line* case by the definite holding of the court to the effect that the order was not void but voidable. This is in contrast to the case of *North Carolina v. United States* above cited, in which case as here, the court found that the evidence was not sufficient to give rise to the jurisdiction of the federal body.

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