1960

Thermoid Western Co. et al v. Union Pacific Railroad Co. : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

port to the higher of these Texas commodity rates. This thus had the effect of increasing some intrastate rates. On this point it was contended that Congress had no authority to control intrastate traffic and intrastate rates and that the I.C.C. had no authority to issue any order affecting the level of intrastate rates. The word "jurisdiction" was not mentioned.

In sustaining the power of Congress and the authority of the I.C.C., the United States Supreme Court said that the essence of power given to Congress to regulate commerce among the several states was such that (page 350) "interstate trade was not left to be destroyed or impeded by the rivalries of local governments."

Page 353:

"Congress in the exercise of its paramount power may prevent the common instrumentalities of interstate and intrastate commercial intercourse from being used in their intrastate operations to the injury of interstate commerce.

"* * * We find no reason to doubt that Congress is entitled to keep the highways of interstate communication open to interstate traffic upon fair and equal terms. * * * The use of the instruments of interstate commerce in a discriminatory manner so as to inflict injury upon that commerce, or some part thereof, furnishes abundant ground for federal intervention. Nor can the attempted exercise of state authority alter the matter, where Congress has acted, for a state may not authorize the carrier to do that which Congress is entitled to forbid and has forbidden."

Page 355:

“* * * We conclude that the order of the commission now in question cannot be held invalid upon the ground that it exceeded the authority which Congress could lawfully confer.”

The court then referred to the provisions of the Interstate Commerce Act as it then existed and added (page 356):

“This language is certainly sweeping enough to embrace all of the discriminations of the sort described which it was in the power of Congress to condemn.”

Page 358:

“Here, the Commission expressly found that unjust discrimination existed under substantially similar conditions of transportation and the inquiry is whether the Commission had power to correct it. * * *. We are convinced that the authority of the Commission was adequate.”

The cases of *Davies Warehouse Co. v. Bowles*, 321 U.S. 144, 88 L.Ed. 635, and *Palmer v. Massachusetts*, 308 U.S. 79, 84 L.Ed. 93, cited on pages 11 and 12 of plaintiffs' brief, are not in point. There are sufficient cases involving freight rates and proceedings by and before the I.C.C. to show controlling law in this matter and appellants cannot find support for their erroneous assumptions nor any comfort from such cases.

The *Davies Warehouse* case involved the Federal Emergency Price Control Act. The question was whether or not the Davies Warehouse Co. was a public utility; if a

public utility, the provisions of the Federal Act itself said it would not come under nor be subject to the federal law at all. Warehouse business such as was carried on by the Davies Co. was declared to be a public utility both by the California Constitution and the California Public Utilities Act. Therefore, the court did not hesitate in saying that the Emergency Price Control Administrator had no authority at all to deal in any way with warehouse rates as set by the California Public Utilities Commission.

The cases of *Palmer v. Massachusetts*, *Yonkers v. U. S.* 320 U.S. 685, 80 L.Ed. 400, and *Alabama Public Service Commission v. Southern Ry Co.*, 341 U.S. 341, 95 L.Ed. 1002, all involved discontinuance or abandonment of local train service with respect to which the I.C.C. had been given no jurisdiction or authority of any kind. Such cases cannot be considered in any way applicable to I.C.C. action in matters where the law specifically says that on request the I.C.C. *shall* make an investigation and issue findings.

The case of *Arkansas Railroad Commission v. Chicago, R. I. & P. R. R. Co.*, 274 U.S. 597, 71 L. Ed. 1224, did involve rates where the I.C.C., after hearing, had ordered increases in rates in Oklahoma, Texas and New Mexico, and without anything further and with no hearing at all it ordered increases in Arkansas rates. Appellants can find nothing in that case to vary or dispute the law as set forth in *Atlantic Coast Line R. Co. v. Florida*, 295 U.S. 301, 79 L.Ed. 1451, 55 S. Ct. 713, referred to later in this brief, which case is directly parallel on its facts with the case at bar.

On page 11 of his brief counsel numbers as “1” and “2” questions which he says the Commission must determine in every Section 13 case. He cites neither statute nor case law to support the position claimed by him, and neither the statute nor the cases pose any such questions in any such manner nor say anything about the I.C.C. “taking jurisdiction” of intrastate rates.

Section 13 of the Interstate Commerce Act is headed “Complaints to and Investigations by Commission,” and provides, “It shall be the duty of the Commission to investigate the matters complained of.” Subparagraph (3) of Section 13, under which these proceedings are instituted, authorizes a petition to be filed by any carrier requesting an investigation, and requires the Commission to notify the state or states interested of the proceedings. Subparagraph (4) provides that whenever in such an investigation the Commission after full hearing finds any undue, unreasonable or unjust discrimination against, or undue burden on interstate commerce, “it shall prescribe the rate * * * thereafter to be charged, in such manner as, in its judgment, will remove such * * * discrimination.” Nowhere is the word “Jurisdiction” used.

There is no question, and at this date it cannot be doubted but what Congress was within its rights in enacting such legislation and the validity of such legislation has been many times upheld. *Florida v. United States*, 282 U.S. 194 @ 210, 75 L.Ed. 291, 51 S. Ct. 119, “The power of the Congress to authorize the Interstate Commerce Commission to establish intrastate rates in order

to remove an unjust discrimination against interstate commerce is not open to dispute.” (See *Wisconsin R. R. Commission v. C. B. & Q. R. R. Co.*, 257 U.S. 563, 66 L.Ed. 371, 42 St. Ct. 232; *Florida v. United States*, 292 U. S. 1, 78 L.Ed. 1077, 54 S. Ct. 603; *King v. United States*, 344 U.S. 254, 97 L.Ed. 301, 73 S. Ct. 259; *Atlantic Coastline R. Co. v. Florida*, 295 U.S. 301, 79 L.Ed. 1451, 55 S. Ct. 713).

An analysis of this federal law clearly demonstrates that carriers are entitled to request an investigation. On request, it is the duty of the I.C.C. to institute an investigation. A *full hearing* was had and no argument has been, or could be made to the contrary. As a result of the hearing the I.C.C. made findings as it was required to do and found discrimination to exist. Under such circumstances there cannot be any valid argument that said Commission acted without or in excess of jurisdiction granted to it — in fact, imposed upon it — by federal law.

The question of whether the I.C.C. may have erred in the exercise of that jurisdiction is another matter, but there is a difference between power and authority to act in the first instance and error that will subject such action to being set aside after that jurisdiction or authority granted has been pursued. Upon this point we would like to refer to the case of *Atwood v. Cox*, 88 Utah 437, 55 P. 2d 377, wherein this court distinguishes between lack of jurisdiction, which is referred to as “lack of power to proceed” with a case, and acting erroneously where proper jurisdiction exists but where in such action a

court or other body may err in the exercise of that jurisdiction. The court refers to numerous definitions of jurisdiction and states: (at Page 447)

“ ‘Of the various definitions of jurisdiction perhaps the most satisfactory is as follows: Jurisdiction is authority to hear and determine a cause. Since jurisdiction is the power to hear and determine, it does not, as will be pointed out later, depend upon the regularity of the exercise of that power or upon the rightfulness of the decisions made.’ ”

Page 450:

“ ‘It cannot be said that if the court correctly decides a question he is acting within his jurisdiction, but if he erroneously decides it and determines it contrary to the evidence he is acting without jurisdiction.’ ”

In *Wasatch Oil Refining Co. v. Wade*, 92 Utah 50, 63 P. 2d 1070, in upholding jurisdiction and refusing to grant requested prohibition, this Court again said: (at P. 60)

“* * * Jurisdiction does not depend upon the regularity of the exercise of power or on the rightfulness or correctness of decisions made, but is the power to hear and determine the matter in hand.”
(Citing *Atwood v. Cox*)

Page 71:

“* * * We are satisfied that the trial court has acted within jurisdiction and if it has proceeded wrongly that it has merely committed error which may be reviewed and corrected upon appeal.”

There is hardly any dissent from the law as above stated, and the Supreme Court of the United States has on various occasions repeated the same. In *General Investment Co. v. New York Central R. Co.*, 271 U. S. 228, 70

L. Ed. 920, 46 S. Ct. 496, the Supreme Court stated: (at P. 230)

“* * * By jurisdiction we mean power to entertain the suit, consider the merits and render a binding decision thereon; and by merits we mean the various elements which enter into or qualify the plaintiff’s right to relief sought. There may be jurisdiction and yet an absence of merits. * * * Whether a plaintiff seeking such relief has the requisite standing is a question going to the merits, and its determination is an exercise of jurisdiction. * * * If it be resolved against him the appropriate decree is a dismissal for want of merits, not for want of jurisdiction.”

The United States Supreme Court (356 U. S. 421), in passing on the I.C.C. order in question in the case at bar, did not declare the order to be void for want of jurisdiction as it might have done had there been any question about jurisdiction, but it set the order aside and directed that the matter be referred back to the I.C.C. for further proceedings in the same matter. This clearly shows that the Supreme Court had some question as to the “merits” of the case but not as to “jurisdiction.”

In *Thompson v. Terminal Shares*, 89 F. 2d 652, the Eighth Circuit Court stated:

“Jurisdiction does not depend upon the rightfulness of the decision. It is not lost because of an erroneous decision, however erroneous that decision may be. * * * In such case whether the court decided correctly or incorrectly could not affect the question of jurisdiction *nor the duty of all persons having notice to obey the order until reversed by a court of competent jurisdiction.* * * *”

See also *Binderup v. Pathe Exchange*, 263 U.S. 291, 60 L.Ed. 308, 44 S. Ct. 96; *National Benefit Life Insurance Co. v. Shaw-Walker Co.*, 111 F. 2d 497, Cert. den. 311 U.S. 673, 85 L.Ed. 432, 61 S. Ct. 35; *Ex Parte Roe*, 234 U.S. 70, 58 L.Ed. 1217, 34 S. Ct. 722.

In *West Coast Exploration Co. v. McKay*, 213 F. 2d 582, the court in the course of a long and learned opinion written by Chief Judge Harold M. Stevens stated:

“* * * A court is said to have jurisdiction, in the sense that its erroneous action is voidable only, not void, when the parties are properly before it, the proceeding is a kind or class which the court is authorized to adjudicate and the claim set forth in the paper writing invoking the court's action is not obviously frivolous. * * *”

Certiorari on that case was denied, 347 U.S. 989, 98 L. Ed. 1123, 74 S. Ct. 850. See also *Dix v. Dix*, 222 S.W. 2d 839 (Ky.).

There is no question but what the I.C.C. had the power under the Interstate Commerce Act to undertake the investigation as it did and to issue the order which it issued. With respect to the issuance of such orders the Interstate Commerce Act further provides under Section 15 that whenever in any such investigation after full hearing the Commission finds any rate to be discriminatory, it is authorized and empowered to prescribe rates to be thereafter charged and to order that the carrier shall not thereafter charge any rate other than that so prescribed.

Subparagraph (2) of Section 15 of the Interstate Commerce Act reads :

“Except as otherwise provided in this part, all orders of the Commission, other than orders for the payment of money, shall take effect within such reasonable time, not less than thirty days, and shall continue in force until its further order, or for a specified period of time, according as shall be prescribed in the order, unless the same shall be suspended or modified or set aside by the Commission or be suspended or set aside by a court of competent jurisdiction.”

This statutory provision very definitely contemplates that an order entered by the I.C.C. under the provisions of Section 13 may be suspended or set aside by the Commission itself or may be suspended or set aside by a court of competent jurisdiction, but it specifically provides that the order “shall take affect” and “shall continue in force” until or unless set aside by the Commission itself or “suspended or set aside by a court.” From these provisions it cannot even be inferred that if there may be error in the receipt of evidence or in the findings or issuance of the order, that such order should be void and of no effect at all. The contrary is conclusively indicated by such statute. It cannot be argued in the face of such a statute that the I.C.C. in any way exceeded the power or authority granted to it by law in holding the hearing, making findings and issuing the orders as issued herein. (Exhibits 9, 10, 11 and 12)

In the case at bar the order of the I.C.C. (Exhibit 10) and tariffs thereunder (Exhibit 4) took effect and remained in effect until set aside by the court’s order.

In addition to the provisions of Section 15 above referred to, which provides that the Commission's order under Section 13 shall take effect and continue in force until modified or suspended by the Commission itself or by a court of competent jurisdiction, Section 16 of the Act is headed "Orders of Commission and Enforcement Thereof." It refers to what should be done "after hearing on a complaint made as provided in Section 13 of this part" and provides:

"Section 16 (7). It shall be the duty of every common carrier, its agents and employes, to observe and comply with such orders so long as the same shall remain in effect."

Subparagraph 8 of the same section then goes on to provide a penalty of \$5,000 for each offense, stating that each day shall be deemed a separate offense, and then follow provisions providing for the enforcement of penalty provisions by the Attorney General of the United States and various United States District attorneys.

It will thus be seen that a provision has been made in the statute itself for the eventuality of the setting aside of these I.C.C. orders but it requires that they shall remain in effect until so set aside, and carriers and others are compelled to comply strictly therewith so long as they are so in force or be subject to extreme penalties. As so stated by Justice Cardoza in *Atlantic Coast Line v. Florida*, 295 U.S. 301, 79 L.Ed. 1451, 55 S. Ct. 713:

"The carrier was not at liberty to take the law into its own hands and refuse submission to the order without the sanction of the court. It

would have exposed itself to suits and penalties, both criminal and civil, if it had followed such path. See e.g. Interstate Commerce Act, 49 U.S.C., sec. 16 (8), (9), (10), (11). Obedience was owing while the order was in force.”

On page 13 of appellant’s brief counsel refers to the case of *North Carolina v. United States*, 325 U.S. 507, 89 L.Ed. 1760, 65 S. Ct. 1260, and again confuses the terms “jurisdiction” and “justification” and italicizes a quotation in that case from *Florida v. United States*, 282 U.S. 194, wherein Chief Justice Hughes says that before the I.C.C. can nullify a state rate, justification for the “exercise of federal power must clearly appear.” It will be noted that Chief Justice Hughes did not say “jurisdiction” must be shown but said that “*justification for the exercise*” of power or jurisdiction must appear. There is a distinction between jurisdiction to act and *justification* for the exercise of that jurisdiction and that is what makes a difference between orders or judgments which will be “void” for want of jurisdiction, or “voidable” because of error in the exercise of that jurisdiction.

Both the North Carolina case and the recent opinion of the United States Supreme Court in 356 U.S. 421 refer to the fact that the evidence must meet a “high standard of certainty.” If there is no “jurisdiction,” then the question of evidence becomes immaterial. If there is jurisdiction, then we would ask: When, during the course of presentation of evidence, would a court or commission lose jurisdiction *because* the evidence does not meet the high standard of certainty? If the evidence is insufficient

after it is all in, then the court or commission errs in issuing a judgment or order. But such is error making the judgment or order voidable and giving a basis for setting it aside on appeal and does not make the entire proceedings void.

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